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Investment Objective

Financial highlights

Attributable to ordinary shareholders 31 December 2001 31 December 2000 % change

Assets

Net assets (£’000) 95,795 103,521 (7.5)

Net assets per share 380.3p 411.0p (7.5)

Share price (mid-market) 294.0p 356.5p (17.5)

Revenue

Net revenue (£’000) 2,420 4,623 (47.7)

Earnings per share 9.61p 17.89p (46.3)

Dividend per share 8.00p 14.50p (44.8)

The objective of the Company is to provide
shareholders with long-term capital appreciation 
from investment in unquoted companies. 
The Company provides investors with an exposure 
to management buy-outs, management buy-ins 
and expansion capital investments.

Performance record

Net assets Net asset Revenue Earnings Dividends Total
attributable value per Ordinary available per paid per expense

Year to ordinary ordinary share Gross for ordinary ordinary ordinary ratio (after
ended shareholders share price revenue shareholders share share tax relief)
31 December £’000 p p £’000 £’000 p p %

1995 49,029 189.1 140.0 2,948 1,478 5.70 4.50 *

1996 60,313 232.6 176.0 2,717 1,276 4.92 4.50 *

1997 66,796 257.6 193.0 3,563 1,688 6.51 4.95 *

1998 66,851 257.8 208.0 2,495 1,359 5.24 4.95 1.57

1999 89,863 346.5 289.0 3,901 2,481 9.57 8.00 1.34

2000 103,521 411.0 356.5 7,332 4,623 17.89 14.50 1.48

2001 95,795 380.3 294.0 3,893 2,420 9.61 8.00 1.44

* No comparable information available.

Information about the Company is available on the Merrill Lynch Investment Managers website at www.mlim.co.uk/its
Specific information regarding the Investment Manager is available at www.hgcapital.net
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Chairman’s Statement

Your Company achieved a solid
performance in the context of a difficult
year for both equity values and the
world economy.

During the year, the net asset value 
per share (‘NAV’) fell by 7.5% from
411.0p at the end of the previous year
to 380.3p on 31 December 2001. This
compares with falls of 15.4%* in the
FTSE All-Share Index and of 17.0%*
in the FTSE SmallCap Index over the
same period, thus demonstrating a
better-than-average performance in
markets that suffered from a major
downturn world-wide and from the
ramifications of the tragic events of 
11 September 2001.

The Board is recommending a 
final dividend for the year ended 
31 December 2001 of 8.00p per share 
(2000: 14.50p). The reduction in dividend
reflects a corresponding reduction in
revenue for the year, compared with
2000, resulting both from lower rates 

of interest on uninvested cash and from
net provisions taken on previously
accrued interest on loan stocks of
companies in the portfolio.

The Company invested £18.9 million in
seven new investments and £3.8 million
in ten follow-on investments.
Realisations totalled £19.5 million.
Details are given in the Investment
Manager’s Review.

None of the Company’s ordinary shares
was bought back during the year. At the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting
the Directors will again be seeking a
renewal of the power to purchase
shares in the market for cancellation.

Uncertainties, both in the general
economic outlook and in the
performance of major stock markets,
are likely to persist to a greater or
lesser degree during the current year;
however these uncertainties should
also generate investment opportunities.

The Company remains liquid and, at 
the year end, had cash resources of 
£18.9 million plus £25.0 million in
unused borrowing facilities. It therefore
continues to be in a good position to
take advantage of those investment
opportunities as they arise.

Lastly, in the light of the separation 
of HgCapital, the Investment Manager,
from Merrill Lynch Investment
Managers, the Board believes it would
be more appropriate for there to be a
direct contractual relationship between
the Company and HgCapital and has
commenced discussions with HgCapital
to this end. The terms of any such new
management agreement would be
subject to the approval of shareholders
at an EGM in due course.

David Bucks
26 February 2002

* All figures capital only.

The Company is well placed to 
take advantage of the current 
economic climate.
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Investment Manager’s Review

Capital markets: a healthy correction
The past year has been a sobering 
time for all investors. The wild
optimism that was a feature of public
markets in 1999 and early 2000 has
been tempered by a cold dose of reality
in 2001. This change of sentiment 
was, in our opinion, predictable and
welcome. A bear market is the friend 
of a patient, long-term investor.

Private equity markets are influenced 
by the public markets and, in 2001, they
experienced a reduction in investment
activity and the start of a movement
towards lower valuations and prices.
During the year disciplined private
equity managers had been waiting for
vendors to reduce prices demanded for
non-core businesses. Some buyers
secured lower prices, although in other
cases sellers struggled to accept the
fact that their businesses could no
longer command the high valuations 
of twelve months earlier. Buyers are
better able to secure good value where
a company cannot afford to postpone 
a decision either to sell or to raise
fresh capital. This phenomenon was
particularly prevalent in the technology
sector and will become more common
in 2002 as a wave of forced sellers hits
the market.

A natural corollary of an improvement
on the buy side is a deterioration in the
ability to realise investments. Merger
and acquisition activity contracted
sharply in 2001 as did the new issues
market. Corporate profitability has
fallen and the boards of companies are
concentrating on rebuilding profits and
restructuring operations rather than
making acquisitions. Institutional
investors experienced a second year 
of negative returns which made them
cautious and willing to support only 
the highest-quality new issues. 

It is clear that the requirements for
successful private equity investing are
evolving. It is no longer sufficient to buy
well and implement minor operational
improvements before selling. Success
is now dependent on building enterprises
that are capable of profitably exploiting
change and growth in our economy,

requiring the application of a range of
skills beyond financial analysis and
negotiating acumen. Increasingly we
need to apply sound strategic sense,
the ability to build management teams
and investment banking skills.

A bear market and a depressed
economy represent fertile ground 
for our form of active private equity
investing. We expect a wave of
consolidation and rationalisation 
across Europe in which LBOs will play 
a significant role. Further, a focus on
increasing productivity and cutting
costs will lead managers to restructure
their operations by applying more
technology and/or concentrating on
core competencies and outsourcing
other activities. Our investment
strategy, which is focused on sectors 
of the economy that are experiencing
long-term growth and on companies
where significant operational
improvement can be unlocked, is 
well-placed to take advantage of
the current environment. 

Investment review
During the year, the Company
participated in seven new investments
and ten follow-on investments,
investing a total of £22.7 million 
(2000: £13.0 million). The two largest
investments were the £74.1 million
management buy-out of Raymarine
Group, the world’s leading manufacturer
of recreational marine electronics, and
the £34 million management buy-out 
of Eagle Rock Entertainment, an
entertainment rights company. In
addition, expansion capital investments
were made in five new businesses.
Burns and Orbiscom operate in the
business-to-business (‘B2B’)
enablement software market, Axiom
and Comnitel supply software for
telecommunications operators, 
and Acuid develops intellectual
property for high-speed data
communication.

Cash realisations amounted to 
£19.5 million (2000: £24.6 million) 
with the principal contributions coming 
from the trade sale of Braitrim, the
successful flotation of Patientline and 

a full redemption of loan stock from
Greycoat Estates.

Our investment performance over 
the year compared favourably with the
returns produced by listed securities
but fell below our own standards.
Certain portfolio companies have 
been experiencing falling profits and 
a reduction in free cash flow, which 
has naturally affected their valuations
and the Company’s income account.
However, the portfolio is prudently
valued and we remain confident that
the companies within it retain the
potential to deliver attractive long-
term capital gains, which is our
overriding goal.

The Company invests alongside other
clients of HgCapital. Typically, the
Company’s holding forms part of a much
larger stake controlled by HgCapital.

Over the past year HgCapital has
expanded and deepened its investment
capabilities. We have been successful
in recruiting talented managers, helped,
in no small part, by our newly-
independent status. Our Frankfurt
office now employs ten staff. It has
seen its marketing activities bear fruit
and now contributes 30% of total deal
flow, a significant increase over 2000.
We increased deal flow by over 38% 
yet remained highly-selective in the
investments we chose to pursue,
believing that buying conditions 
would improve over the year.

HgCapital
Investment Manager
26 February 2002

A bear market coupled with a depressed
economy represent fertile ground for 
private equity investing.



HgCapital continues to focus on
businesses that have attractive
economics and are experiencing
favourable structural change. 

We consider leveraged buy-out
transactions in all industry sectors,
in companies with values ranging
from £25 million to £250 million.
We have chosen to focus on this
“mid-market” segment for a
variety of reasons. Firstly,
information flows are less than
perfect, companies are not always
auctioned and, where they are,
relationships are critical. Secondly,
the companies tend to have more
growth potential than larger
enterprises and, thirdly, they offer
scope for us to have a significant
influence on outcomes through our
close involvement. Accordingly, we
believe that the mid-market offers
better value.

Our LBO team specialises in
leveraged, public-to-private (‘P2P’)
and turnaround acquisitions of
businesses in growing markets. 
In addition, we have selected four 

industry sectors (Business
Services, Healthcare, Information
& Communications Technology and
Media) for particular attention and
have an investment team dedicated
to each. Within these sectors, 
as well as conducting leveraged
acquisitions, we invest in high-
growth companies, providing a
minimum of £3 million 
expansion capital.

When making investments, we
apply the following principles:

- we support entrepreneurial
management with successful
track records.

- we invest in companies with
competitive economics operating
in growth markets.

- we prefer to be the sole or lead
investor so that we can act
quickly and decisively.

- we invest in companies that 
are headquartered in western
Europe.

HgCapital has made more than 200
investments since 1985.

Successful private equity
investment depends upon taking
advantage of the few companies
and sectors that offer real potential
to grow value. Our role is to identify
attractive companies, invest on
the right terms and and help
management teams to build value. 

In the pre-investment phase, we
originate deals by scanning sectors,
identifying the most promising
sub-segments and then selecting
the best companies to target.

Once we have invested in a
company we work with the
company’s management to enable
them to produce better, more
focused business plans. 
These business plans provide 
a framework for tracking 
a company’s progress by
establishing operational and
financial milestones and also
ensure consistency in our
monitoring. Finally, we play a role
in planning an exit strategy that is
likely to achieve the best price.
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Investment Strategy

Successful private equity investing depends
on taking advantage of the few companies
and sectors that offer real potential.
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A list of investments is given on page 18.

Cash resources and an undrawn
borrowing facility, amounting to
£43.9 million, give the Company
significant financial flexibility with which 
to take advantage of an anticipated
increase in investment opportunities 
over the next year.

Portfolio Analysis

At the end of 2001, the Company’s
portfolio consisted of 50 investments
(2000: 47) of which the ten principal
investments represented about 66% 
of the value excluding cash. 

Seven new investments were made
during the year with a focus on the
Information & Communications
Technology (‘ICT’) and Media sectors,
where falling valuations have created
attractive conditions for investment. Four
investments were fully realised. These
realisations produced a 22% uplift on
carrying value and 62% uplift from cost.

The portfolio valuation, excluding cash,
of £75.2 million compares with an
aggregate book cost of £72.8 million.

Falling valuations created attractive
investment conditions in the ICT and
Media sectors.

No £’000
New investments 7 18,940
Further investments 10 3,756
Full realisations 4 8,806
Partial realisations 16 10,664

Sector by value

 Business Services

 Healthcare

 ICT

 LBO

 Fund

 Media

 Other

34%

19%

18%

13%

8%

5%

3%

Sector by number

 7 Business Services

  7  Healthcare

   8  ICT

 5 LBO

 8 Fund

 1 Media

 14 Other

Valuation basis

 Cost

 Earnings

 Mid-market price

 Net assets

 Written down

 Other

41%

22%

19%

9%

8%

1%

Stage

 Buy-out

 Expansion

 Fund

54%

38%

8%

Geographic spread

 UK and Ireland

 United States

 Continental Europe

83%

12%

5%

Asset class

64% Unquoted

15% Quoted

21% Cash and other assets
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HgCapital has a strong track
record of carrying out leveraged
buy-outs (‘LBOs’) of established
businesses both within and 
outside its areas of industry 
specialisation.

In the past, corporate divestments
have been the main source of LBO
deals and this part of the market is
likely to remain very important in
the future. In Continental Europe
especially, a large number of 

companies are only now 
beginning the process of 
corporate restructuring. We
actively review potential corporate
disposals in order to identify
targets before they become widely
known. One such example is
Dechra Pharmaceuticals,
the UK’s largest distributor of
veterinary drugs, where we led 
the buy-out from Gehe AG in 
1997 following our approach 
to that company. 

We expect the public equity 
markets to remain a promising,
secondary source of investments.
The trend away from investing 
in small-cap stocks is continuing 
to generate a number of 
opportunities to take companies
private. Greycoat Estates, a 
property development company 
in which we invested in 1999, 
represented one of the UK’s largest
recommended public-to-private
deals of the 1990s.

LBO Strategy
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LBO Investments

2001 was a year in which 
to be highly-selective.

by trimming costs and reshaping the
company’s product. Travelsphere is 
fortunate to have a highly-variable 
cost base and is well-placed to weather
any downturn. 

Worldmark International 
Worldmark is a leading supplier of
product identification systems and
components to the electronics industry.
Its products fall into four key areas:
intelligent bar code labels, branding
products, mould designs and security
labels. Worldmark’s markets
deteriorated rapidly during 2001,
requiring a restructuring of the 
balance sheet and adjustment to its
cost structure and production base. 
Action to shift a larger percentage 
of manufacturing to low-cost locations
in China, Mexico and Hungary is
underway in order to enable Worldmark
to capitalise on the structural changes
taking place in its market place. 

with a regearing of the remaining
portfolio, allowed the company to
redeem all its loan stock together with
accrued interest, producing a return of
1.2 times cost in cash distributions, in
line with the original buy-out plan.

Dechra Pharmaceuticals 
Dechra Pharmaceuticals is the largest
distributor of veterinary pharmaceuticals
in the UK. It floated on the London
Stock Exchange in 2000 since when its
share price has increased by more than
30%. In the latter half of 2001, we sold
part of our stake. The business continues
to grow solidly and its shares trade at a
healthy premium to the issue price.

Travelsphere
Travelsphere is the UK’s second largest
provider of overseas coach tour holidays 
for the 45+ age group, a growth market.
Since our investment in October 2000,
Travelsphere has performed strongly
although it was no surprise that a large
number of cancellations were received
in October and November 2001.
Management responded quickly 

Raymarine
Raymarine is the world’s leading
manufacturer of navigation and 
other electronic equipment for the
recreational marine market. The 
£74.1 million management buy-out of
the company from Raytheon completed
in January 2001. Raymarine has
significant potential as the leader in 
a growth market. The business has
exceeded expectations since the buy-
out but the company has, nevertheless,
put in place plans for cost reductions
should the economic downturn prove
more severe than expected. 

Greycoat Estates 
Greycoat Estates, which owns a portfolio
of properties in central London,
continued its strategy of selective asset
disposals. These disposals, combined

No £’000
New investments 1 6,721
Further investments 1 92
Partial realisations 2 4,589

Stage Cost Valuation Valuation basis Value 
£’000 £’000 %

Raymarine Group Ltd LBO 6,721 6,721 Cost 8.9
Greycoat Estates Ltd P2P 41 816 Discount to net assets 1.1
Dechra Pharmaceuticals plc* MBO 12 811 Mid-market price 1.1
Travelsphere Holdings Ltd† LBO 801 801 Cost 1.1
Worldmark International Ltd†† MBO 2,235 618 Written down 0.8

9,810 9,767 13.0

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
† Total commitment £4.1 million. £0.8 million drawn down on completion. 
†† A further commitment of £0.3 million will be drawn in 2002.
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Healthcare Strategy

Healthcare is a growing industry
being driven by increasing life
expectancy, rising affluence and
greater public expectations.
Innovation and advances 
in medical science mean that 
there is an expanding range of 
treatments available. However, 
the ability of public sector health
services to provide these 
treatments is constrained by tight
budgets. This creates opportunity
for the private sector, which is
steadily increasing its share of 
total healthcare expenditure in
western Europe.

We believe there is scope for
investment within healthcare
services, life sciences, medical
technologies and healthcare IT. In
healthcare services, telecare, for
example, makes possible the care
of patients at home, so reducing
the cost of hospital or nursing
home care. In medical
technologies, diagnostics
companies present interesting
opportunities. Early diagnosis can
prevent illness, and prevention 
is less expensive than cure. An
interesting area of medical
technology is biologics, which now
allows human tissue to be used for

the repair of cartilage in damaged
joints. In life sciences the pressure
on global pharmaceutical
companies to accelerate product
development timelines is offering
outsourcing companies the
opportunity to provide value-added
services to help customers achieve
their aims.

The growing provision of private
sector healthcare in western
Europe will afford both expansion
capital and leveraged acquisition
investment opportunities over the
coming years.
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Healthcare Investments

The focus was on building management teams
and achieving key milestones.

to an increase in margin. In June 
2001 we repurchased the former
chairman’s shares.

Newchurch 
Newchurch provides a range of IT-
enabled services to the healthcare
market, including support services 
and patient management programmes,
targeting the needs of the primary care
and pharmaceutical markets. Although
the business has made significant
progress in securing pilot sites and
sales leads, conversion rates have been
slower than planned. Accordingly, we
have revised our views of its prospects
and have written down the valuation of
this investment. In May 2001 Newchurch
received the second tranche of a follow-
on investment and it is likely that
additional funding will be required 
in mid-2002.

MedNova
MedNova specialises in the development
of minimally-invasive vascular products
for the protection and repair of the
heart, brain and blood vessels, using a
catheterised delivery technique. It offers
potential for high growth in an evolving
area of medicine. We sold the business
in 2000 to Abbott Laboratories for an
initial payment and a deferred
consideration. Under the terms of the
sale, a second milestone payment was
received in May 2001, following ‘CE
mark’ approval for a derivative of
MedNova’s filter device, indicating that
the manufacturer has complied with all
obligations required by European
legislation.

Trading in 2001 was adversely affected
by a change in ordering patterns 
by local authorities. Profits declined by
12%, which led to a prudent 50%
reduction in our valuation of this
investment. Tunstall entered the new
year with record order books, showing
more than a 30% year-on-year increase. 
A small tranche of shares was sold to
management in January 2001.

VTSI
VTSI is a German medical devices
company that has developed a novel
technique for repairing cartilage in
damaged joints, particularly knees,
which is superior to and more cost
effective than current treatments. We
believe that VTSI has the potential to
become the new gold standard for
cartilage repair. Results from the first
formal randomised clinical study have
shown better outcomes after a year
than mosaicplasty, the alternative,
popular treatment. In July 2001 VTSI
entered into a licensing agreement 
with Johnson & Johnson for rights 
to its product other than in Europe,
Australasia and China.

Profiad
Profiad offers clinical trials services 
to pharmaceutical companies, 
clinical research organisations and
biotechnology companies via a network
of general practitioners. More effective
recruitment and better control of
patient trial procedures should facilitate
the speeding up of drug trials. Several
large contracts were won during the
year and fees from consultancy services
and bonus payments have contributed 

Alizyme 
Alizyme is a biotechnology company 
developing prescription drugs for the 
treatment of diseases of the gut and
obesity. The sale of a tranche of shares
in February 2001, at a price of £1.18,
generated proceeds of nearly three
times cost. The results of several critical
clinical trials are due throughout 2002,
making it an important year for Alizyme.

Match
Match is the UK’s second-largest
provider of flexible staffing to the
healthcare industry, serving a growth
market. The company’s network of
walk-in private GP clinics was sold in
July 2001, in line with the buy-out plan.
The poor performance of Premier, 
its blue collar staffing business, 
has been offset by Quality Locum
Services, the healthcare staffing
company acquired in 2000, which is
performing particularly well. During 
the year, Match recruited a new 
chief executive to guide the company 
through its next stage of growth. 
We invested a further £6.5 million.

Tunstall
Tunstall manufactures and maintains
social alarms for use by the elderly and
infirm. It is the UK market leader and
also has significant presences in
Germany, Holland and Belgium, as well
as activities in Australia and Canada. 

Stage Cost Valuation Valuation basis Value 
£’000 £’000 %

Alizyme plc* Expansion 2,333 3,103 Mid-market price 4.1
Match Holdings Ltd Expansion 2,973 2,973 Cost 4.0
Tunstall Holdings Ltd MBO 5,861 2,768 Written down 3.7
VTSI AG† Expansion 2,473 2,484 Cost 3.3
Profiad Ltd Expansion 1,386 1,386 Cost 1.8
Newchurch Ltd Expansion 1,570 943 Written down 1.3
MedNova Ltd Expansion 88 439 Other 0.6 

16,684 14,096 18.8

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
† The difference between cost and value is due to favourable movements in foreign exchange. 

No £’000
Further investments 3 1,229
Partial realisations 3 936
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Information & communications
technology (‘ICT’) is a large, 
complex and fast-changing sector.
Rather than attempting to 
understand the whole of this
industry, we focus on a few 
discrete sub-sectors where we 
can develop real competitive
advantage through the depth of
our analysis. We have developed 
a rigorous process to identify the
most promising industry areas
and are constantly seeking new
niche areas as the market evolves. 

We consider both early-stage
investments and management 
buy-outs. Typically, we favour
companies that supply goods and
services to other businesses and 

those whose main assets 
are intellectual. At present, the
two main areas of focus are
telecommunications software and
B2B process enablement. Within
the telecommunications software
industry, heavily-indebted telecom
operators are looking to reduce
costs and efficiently roll out new
revenue-generating services. This
is driving market growth of some
19% a year. Worldwide sales of
telecommunications software are
expected to reach $17.8 billion by
2004 from $8.9 billion in 2000.

While telecommunications 
software helps large companies 
to manage their internal 
processes more effectively, 

B2B process enablement is about 
helping companies deal with
external suppliers and customers
more efficiently. This is also an
area with strong potential. Facing 
a more uncertain economic 
environment, many companies are
now prioritising technology that
helps them improve efficiency and
profitability in the short term. 

In 1999 and 2000 the explosion 
of valuations in this sector made 
it difficult for long-term investors
to find attractive ICT investments.
However, the shake out that 
followed in 2001 allowed us to
increase considerably our rate 
of investment.

Information & Communications
Technology Strategy
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Information & Communications
Technology Investments

Stage Cost Valuation Valuation basis Value
£’000 £’000 %

Orbiscom Ltd† Expansion 2,791 2,705 Cost 3.6
Trados, Inc† Expansion 2,492 2,680 Cost 3.6
Acuid Ltd Expansion 1,946 1,946 Cost 2.6
Bottomline Technologies, Inc** MBO 952 1,564 Mid-market price 2.1
Axiom Holdings Ltd Expansion 1,476 1,476 Cost 2.0
Burns e-Commerce Solutions MBI 1,342 1,342 Cost 1.8
Comnitel Technologies† Expansion 996 971 Cost 1.3
Global People Network Ltd Expansion 520 520 Cost 0.7

12,515 13,204 17.7
† The difference between cost and value is due to foreign exchange rate movements.
** Traded on NASDAQ. 

business-to-business e-payment and
billing products. It delivers significant
cost savings to its broad blue-chip
customer base. During the year Burns
secured a number of important new
accounts and developed a new, more
scalable version of its product. We
invested £4.5 million in February 2001
and committed a further £5.2 million in
November 2001 to enable the business
to build up its management team. 
£2.6 million was paid immediately with
the remainder payable in June 2002. 

Comnitel Technologies 
Comnitel is another leading innovator 
in the telecommunications software 
market. Its products help wireless
telecommunications operators to
improve the services delivered by their
networks, thereby enhancing revenues
and reducing operating costs. We
invested £2.8 million in March 2001, as
part of a £8.4 million funding round to
support the company’s expansion.

Global People Network 
Global People Network, which trades 
as Netengines, was spun out of Match
Holdings in May 2000 in order to exploit
the internet application of Match’s
software products, which facilitate staff
recruitment. Since then the company
has developed well and has achieved a
number of key milestones. We invested
a further £2 million in two tranches, 
in July and November 2001.

Singapore and Korea. We committed
£5.6 million in May 2001 to allow the
company to exploit more fully its highly-
regarded technology.

Bottomline Technologies
The holding in Bottomline Technologies, 
a US NASDAQ-listed company, was
acquired through the sale of 
e-payments company, Checkpoint, in
August 2000. The acquisition provided
Bottomline with a dominant position in
the UK electronics payments market.
Since the year end Bottomline has
raised $22.3 million from a leading 
US venture capital investor, General
Atlantic Partners. The market has
responded positively to the news,
recognising General Atlantic’s expertise
and strong track record of investing 
in enterprising software companies.
Bottomline made a small cash
distribution in August 2001.

Axiom
Axiom is a leading innovator in the 
telecommunications software market,
an area with strong growth potential.
Axiom’s software enables communications
operators to automate the entire complex
process required to deliver a new
service, such as cable TV, to their
customers, eliminating time-
consuming, paper-based checks. We
invested £7.2 million in December 2001
to help Axiom build a clear market
leadership.

Burns e-Commerce Solutions 
Burns e-Commerce Solutions is a 
leading e-payments company, offering
internet-based, multi-currency, 

Orbiscom 
Orbiscom is a world leader in secure 
on-line payment card technology,
serving large financial institutions
including Discover, MBNA and Citicorp.
Orbiscom’s customers benefit from 
a continuous and immediate
communication channel to their
customers, while cardholders are 
protected against fraud. We invested
£11.8 million in Orbiscom in 
August 2001.

Trados 
Trados is the global market leader in 
software for the translation industry. 
Some 17% of the world’s translators
rely on its technology, which improves
the quality and consistency of their
work. An initial public offering planned
for the fourth quarter of 2001 was
postponed as markets became
unreceptive to new issues. In
September 2001, we provided
$2 million additional working 
capital for the company. 

Acuid 
Acuid has developed intellectual
property for accelerating data
communication between microchips,
which is the main limiting factor in 
the speed of computer processors. 
The company has licensees in 
North America, Japan, Taiwan, 

There was a marked improvement in buying
opportunities as value re-emerged.

No £’000
New investments 5 8,551
Further investments 2 609
Partial realisations 1 8
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Business Services Strategy

The business services sector is
broad, with at least seven sub-
sectors. A common element to
each is the idea that businesses
can reduce costs and increase
effectiveness by concentrating 
on core competencies and
outsourcing other functions to
specialists who can capture and
share economies of scale with
their customers.

Although the sector has been
affected by the current economic
slow down, prospects for business
services companies in general
remain good. Pressure on
companies to reduce costs, by
outsourcing certain functions 
and by better supply chain
management, is rising rather 
than falling. Government spending
on public infrastructure such as
transport, hospitals and schools 
is also increasing.

HgCapital’s strongest interest lies
in “white collar” business process
outsourcing, such as property
facilities management, human
capital management, billing,
administration and processing,
specialist employment agencies
and inspection, testing and 
accreditation, which are 
experiencing healthy growth.
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The focus was on portfolio 
management.

Stage Cost Valuation Valuation basis Value 
£’000 £’000 %

PII Group Ltd MBI 5,635 16,062 Earnings based 21.3
Patientline plc# Expansion 413 6,567 Discount to mid-market price 8.7
Bertram Group Holdings Ltd Expansion 3,309 1,302 Written down 1.7
Orbis plc* MBO 3,378 818 Mid-market price 1.1
SGI (Holdings) Ltd Expansion 2,759 660 Written down 0.9
Ironpath Ltd t/a ClinPhone Expansion 26 436 Earnings based 0.6
PARC Group International plc MBO 51 28 Earnings based -

15,571 25,873 34.3
# Traded on the Alternative Investment Market. 
* Listed on the London Stock Exchange. 

PII
PII is the worldwide leader in the oil 
and gas pipeline inspection market. 
It acquired its principal competitor,
Pipetronix GmbH, from Preussag AG in
1999. Strong growth in sales and profits
is primarily due to its US operations,
where new legislation requires pipelines
to be inspected more frequently. Since
the year end a definitive agreement has
been signed to sell the business to 
GE Power Systems for £310 million.
Completion of the sale, which is subject
to competition authority clearances, 
will earn a return of some four times
original investment cost. 

Patientline 
Patientline is the leading provider of 
bedside entertainment, communication
and information services in UK and
Dutch hospitals. The company is

installing its second-generation
terminal to enable doctors to access
clinical data from the bedside and 
has acquired a leading competitor in
Holland. Despite difficult market
conditions, Patientline floated on the
Alternative Investment Market in March
2001 at a value of 175p per share,
representing a market capitalisation 
of £104 million. The proceeds from the
issue were used to repay our loan stock
plus accrued interest, resulting in a
cash return of 1.6 times cost. We retain
a 19% stake in Patientline, which is
subject to lock-in provisions. At the 
year end, Patientline’s shares traded 
at a 30% premium to the issue price.

Bertram
Bertram is the largest book wholesaler
in the UK and a leading supplier of
books to public libraries. There is
increasing demand for its services 
as next-day delivery becomes more
important in book retailing. Poor 
execution of strategy led to a period of
under-performance and a change 
of management in 2000, which was
followed by a refinancing of the

company in August 2001. The new 
chief executive has made a significant 
impact on efficiency and quality of
service to place the business on a
sound footing and rebuild profits. 
In the interim this investment is 
held at a reduced valuation.

Orbis
Orbis is the UK market leader in 
the business of protecting empty
properties and has operations in
Germany, France, the Netherlands 
and Ireland. The original investment
was the management buy-out of Sitex 
Group, which we sold to Orbis plc, 
a competitor, in 2000 for a cash
consideration and shares in Orbis. 
The combined entity is a clear market
leader. Unfortunately, a series of
operational problems has led to a fall 
in profit and a precipitous drop in the
share price. Since the year end a new
chairman has been appointed.

Business Services Investments

No £’000
Further investments 2 1,027
Full realisations 3 8,438
Partial realisations 3 4,316
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Business Services Investments continued

SGI
SGI, formerly Unicorn, is a leading
provider of property facilities
management services to the local
authority and private sectors. There 
is considerable scope for growth in 
the outsourcing market with many
companies yet to outsource facilities
management. Accounting irregularities
not identified at the time of investment
led to a material over-statement of pre-
acquisition profits. The resultant small
working capital requirement was
redressed by an additional investment
in February 2001. A warranty claim has
been lodged against the vendor.

ClinPhone
ClinPhone’s telephone-based response
system allows rapid communication 
of data between doctors conducting
clinical trials and pharmaceutical
companies. The system speeds up 
the collection of data, allowing
pharmaceutical companies to bring
drugs to market more quickly. In 
August 2001 we arranged a leveraged
recapitalisation of the business which
permitted the repayment of the initial
cost of the investment through the
redemption of all loan stock and
accrued interest. The ordinary equity

ownership remains unchanged.
ClinPhone continues to trade strongly. 

PARC
PARC is the world leader in the
provision of contract airline pilots and
operates an employment agency for the
medical and engineering sectors. 
In June 2001 the group completed a
leveraged recapitalisation of its balance
sheet whereby £22.9 million of senior
debt was introduced, placing an
enterprise value of £35.6 million on the
business. The proceeds of the senior
debt issue were used to repay our loan
stock together with 73% of our equity
stake in the business and produced a
cash return of 2.7 times cost. We retain
a 25% stake in the company. We have
recognised a potential deterioration 
in prospects for PARC’s market by
reducing the valuation of our stake 
in the business.

Braitrim 
In March 2001 Braitrim, a packaging
services company serving clothing
retailers, was sold to Spotless Group, 
an Australian quoted business service
group, for a total consideration of 
£120 million. The investment in Braitrim
has produced a return of 1.6 times cost

during an unexpectedly difficult time
for European garment retailing.

Security Printing 
Security Printing, the final business 
to be realised following the de-merger
of The Stationery Office Group in 1999,
was sold in February 2001 realising a
substantial profit over cost. The original
investment of £6.8 million in The
Stationery Office has yielded a return 
in excess of four times cost.

Ascot Drummond 
Ascot Drummond provided on-line 
accountancy services to small
businesses. Since the date of our
investment the company failed to
achieve its milestone targets and
prospects for its core IT contractor
segment deteriorated. We therefore
took the decision to curtail financing
and the company was put into
administration. Our £3.25 million
investment has been written off.



15

M
ercury G

rosvenor Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2001

Media Investments

from performers such as Status Quo, 
Tina Turner, the Bee Gees and Janet
Jackson. Sales have grown by more
than 40% a year in the past two years
to reach £25 million. The £34 million 
management buy-out from edel, a
financially-stretched music group
listed on Germany’s Neuer Markt,
completed in December 2001.

Eagle Rock Entertainment 
Eagle Rock Entertainment, formed 
in 1997, has quickly established itself
as a leader in the growing field of
entertainment property rights. It
acquires, creates and exploits audio
and visual content, principally in the
rock music genre, by established
artists with enduring international
appeal. Its portfolio includes works

At the beginning of the year we
launched our Media team. This is
the most cyclical of the industries
in which we invest but it is one that
offers attractive returns to those
willing to take a long-term view.
With international consolidation,
deregulation and new technology
driving profound change in the
media industry, we believe that this
sector will continue to produce
many attractive investment
opportunities. We invested in a
number of media companies in the
early 1990s, including Britt Allcroft
(now Gullane Entertainment plc), 

The Maiden Group and LLP (now
Informa Group plc). These were all
floated in the mid to late 1990s,
giving us a good track record 
in the sector.

The recent economic slowdown,
the decline in advertising and the
bursting of the technology, media
and telecommunications bubble
have adversely affected a number
of large and medium-size media
groups, including Eagle Rock
Entertainment’s former parent
company, edel. Such companies
are proving increasingly receptive

to the idea of selling assets in 
order to secure their own 
financial futures. 

We focus on mature businesses
where cash flow or asset values
can be leveraged. Our focus in
2002, at least until the outlook and
visibility on advertising improves, is
likely to remain on two segments:
companies involved in entertainment
intellectual property rights and
those publishing business
information. Such companies have
more stable earnings than those
dependent on advertising. 

Media Strategy

Stage Cost Valuation Valuation basis Value
£’000 £’000 %

Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd MBO 3,668 3,668 Cost 4.9
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Other Investments

The third fund made several calls on
committed capital during the year 
to finance further investments. 
It comprises twenty-four investments
and is 70% drawn.

Euroknights III 
Euroknights III invests in medium-sized
companies in Continental Europe. It is 
fully invested and consists of ten 
investments. It made several calls on 
committed capital during the year to 
finance further investments.

Power Leisure 
Power Leisure is Ireland’s largest chain 
of bookmakers, with a 30% market
share. In December 2000 it floated on
the London and Dublin stock markets,
six months after we purchased a 10%
stake in the company. We sold 15% of 

our holding on the first day of trading
and a further 15% in August 2001 at a
price in excess of two and a half times
cost. The company’s shares have
performed strongly since flotation.

Other
Capital distributions were also received 
from two other overseas funds, ACT
Venture Capital and Wand Equity
Portfolio II. The liquidation of Azinger
yielded a distribution in April 2001.
Proceeds also arose from a partial
redemption of loan stock in The
Sanctuary Spa Group, the receipt of 
a deferred consideration from Horizon
Training Groep and from the sale of our
quoted shareholding in Vernalis.

Stage Cost Valuation Valuation basis Value
£’000 £’000 %

Weston Presidio Capital† Fund 3,226 3,574 Net asset value 4.7
Euroknights III, L.P. Fund 1,615 1,604 Net asset value 2.1
Power Leisure plc*~ Expansion 445 1,359 Mid-market price 1.8
Other n/a 9,286 2,063 n/a 2.7

14,572 8,600 11.3

† Aggregate of the Weston Presidio Capital I, II and III funds. 
* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
~ Listed on the Dublin Stock Exchange.

Overseas funds are mostly in 
their realisation phases.

No £’000
Further investments 2 799
Full realisation 1 368
Partial realisations 7 815

Weston Presidio Capital
Weston Presidio Capital invests equity 
capital into later-stage, privately-held,
emerging-growth companies in the
United States. It has raised three funds
in which HgCapital has invested. The
first fund is fully invested and has five
remaining investments. Its performance
has been good with a net IRR to limited
partners to date of 22%. The second
fund made a cash distribution during
the year. It comprises thirteen
investments and is 80% drawn 
having produced a net IRR of 27%. 
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Review of Principal Investments

Net assets/ MGT income % ordinary 
Company Accounting Turnover PBIT/ (LBIT) PBT / (LBT) (liabilities) accrued 2001 share capital 

date £’m £’m £’m £’m £’000 (a)

Acuid Ltd Dec-01 *** *** *** *** – 8.4
Alizyme plc* Dec-00 0.0 (6.3) (5.6) 20.5 – 7.4 
Axiom Holdings Ltd Mar-01 *** *** *** *** – 5.8
Bertram Group Holdings Ltd Jul-00 105.0 0.0 (6.1) (4.9) – 12.6 
Bottomline Technologies, Inc** Jun-01 77.1 (38.6) (39.8) 93.0 – 1.5
Burns e-Commerce Solutions Mar-00 2.1 (1.5) (1.4) (0.5) 26 12.5 
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd Dec-01 *** *** *** *** 10 14.6
Euroknights III, L.P. Dec-00 n/a n/a n/a 114.2 – 3.0
Match Holdings Ltd Dec-00 130.2 7.4 (2.6) (8.9) 548 5.8 
Orbiscom Ltd Dec-01 *** *** *** *** – 2.8 
Patientline plc# Mar-01 8.0 (0.5) (4.8) 26.9 – 5.9 
PII Group Ltd Dec-00 122.5 27.1 0.0 (10.2) 1,945 9.0 
Power Leisure plc*~ Dec-00 362.8 10.6 11.0 26.1 – 1.1 
Profiad Ltd Dec-00 3.1 (2.0) (1.5) 1.4 – 11.3 
Raymarine Group Ltd Dec-01 *** *** *** *** 696 14.1 
Trados, Inc Dec-00 13.6 (11.2) (10.8) 10.7 – 3.9 
Tunstall Holdings Ltd Sep-01 55.5 7.9 (7.7) (9.6) – 10.3 
VTSI AG Dec-01 *** *** *** *** – 6.7 
Weston Presidio Capital II, L.P. Dec-00 n/a n/a n/a 89.3 – 2.2 
Weston Presidio Capital III, L.P. Dec-00 n/a n/a n/a 252.6 – 1.3 

(a) Percentage of the total issued ordinary share capital held by the Company as at 31 December 2001.

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
~ Listed on the Dublin Stock Exchange.
# Traded on the Alternative Investment Market.
** Traded on NASDAQ.
*** No audited accounts have been produced since investment.
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Investment Listing

Company Activity Cost Valuation Investment Value 
£’000 £’000 £’000 % 

ACT Venture Capital Ltd Irish venture fund 6 149 1998 0.2 
Acuid Ltd High-speed communication technology 1,946 1,946 2001 2.6 
Alizyme plc* Biotechnology for gut disease and obesity 2,333 3,103 1998 4.1 
Axiom Holdings Ltd Communications software 1,476 1,476 2001 2.0 
Azinger Ltd (in liquidation) Grocery importer and distributor 267 45 1993 0.1 
Bertram Group Holdings Ltd+ Wholesale supplier of books 3,309 1,302 1999 1.7 
Biocode Inc Molecular markers 531 596 1997 0.8 
Biovector Therapeutics S.A. Biopharmaceuticals 998 - 1997 - 
Bottomline Technologies, Inc** Electronic B2B banking software 952 1,564 1999 2.1 
Burns e-Commerce Solutions+ B2B electronic payments 1,342 1,342 2001 1.8 
Comnitel Technologies Network management software 996 971 2001 1.3 
Corinthian Marketing plc Plastic collectable toys 750 249 1995 0.3 
Creos International plc* (in liquidation) Power supplies for x-ray machines 594 - 1995 - 
Dechra Pharmaceuticals plc* Veterinary pharmaceuticals 12 811 1997 1.1 
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd+ Entertainment intellectual property rights 3,668 3,668 2001 4.9 
Euroknights III, L.P. European venture fund 1,615 1,604 1996 2.1 
Euroknights International Ltd European venture fund 83 - 1995 - 
Global People Network Ltd On-line staffing software 520 520 2000 0.7 
Greycoat Estates Ltd Property development 41 816 1999 1.1 
Ironpath Ltd t/a ClinPhone Pharmaceutical and clinical research services 26 436 1996 0.6 
JBS Industries Ltd Building products 12 12 1998 - 
Kaye Holdings Ltd+ Aluminium extruder 952 - 1996 - 
Luxfer Holdings Ltd Aluminium products 46 - 1996 - 
ML Laboratories plc* Biotechnology pharmaceuticals 533 16 1996 - 
Match Holdings Ltd Flexible staffing to NHS trust hospitals 2,973 2,973 1999 4.0 
MedNova Ltd Medical devices 88 439 1998 0.6 
Newchurch Ltd IT services for the healthcare industry 1,570 943 2000 1.3 
Nigra plc (Cerebrus) (in liquidation) Central nervous system drugs 1,004 - 1996 - 
Nova Homes Ltd (in liquidation) Housebuilder 480 - 1993 - 
NWP Communications Ltd Payphones operator 2,035 - 1997 - 
Orbis plc* Void property management 3,378 818 1997 1.1 
Orbiscom Ltd Secure card-based payments technology 2,791 2,705 2001 3.6 
PARC Group International plc Manpower leasing 51 28 1995 - 
Patientline plc# Hospital services 413 6,567 1996 8.7 
PII Group Ltd+ Oil and gas pipeline inspection services 5,635 16,062 1998 21.3 
Power Leisure plc*~ Irish bookmaker 445 1,359 2000 1.8 
Profiad Ltd+ Patient recruitment for clinical trials 1,386 1,386 1999 1.8 
Raymarine Group Ltd+ Recreational marine electronics 6,721 6,721 2001 8.9 
The Sanctuary Spa Group Ltd+ Day spa 343 378 1995 0.5 
SGI (Holdings) Ltd+ Outsourced services for the property sector 2,759 660 1999 0.9 
Trados, Inc Software for the translation industry 2,492 2,680 2000 3.6 
Travelsphere Holdings Ltd Overseas coach tour holiday operator 801 801 2000 1.1 
Tunstall Holdings Ltd+ Security alarms for the elderly and infirm 5,861 2,768 1999 3.7 
UPM Holdings B.V. European venture fund 39 28 1995 - 
VTSI AG Tissue repair technology 2,473 2,484 2000 3.3 
Wand Equity Portfolio II, L.P. US LBO fund 613 590 1998 0.8 
Weston Presidio Capital I, L.P. US venture fund - 32 1995 - 
Weston Presidio Capital II, L.P. US venture fund - 1,010 1995 1.3 
Weston Presidio Capital III, L.P. US venture fund 3,226 2,532 1998 3.4 
Worldmark International Ltd Product identification systems 2,235 618 2000 0.8 
Total 72,820 75,208 100.0

* Listed on the London Stock Exchange.
~ Listed on the Dublin Stock Exchange.
# Traded on the Alternative Investment Market.
** Traded on NASDAQ.
+ HgCapital, through its management of the Company and other funds, controls more than 50% of the voting equity shares.
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Board of Directors

David Bucks*† (Chairman)
Aged 67, was appointed as a director and became chairman
of the Company in 1992. He is a chartered accountant with
over 30 years’ experience of working in the City. He is 
a non-executive director of Esporta plc.

Timothy John Amies*†
Aged 63, was appointed to the Board in 1991. He is a
chartered accountant with over 32 years’ experience of
working in the City. He was a partner of Laurie Milbank & Co,
stockbrokers, for 16 years prior to its acquisition by Chase
Manhattan Bank, where he was a director of Chase
Investment Bank involved in mergers and acquisitions. 
He is a trustee of World Vision (U.K.). He is chairman 
of the Audit and Valuation Committee of the Company.

Piers Leighton Brooke
Aged 61, was appointed to the Board in 2001. He worked for
38 years in both commercial and merchant banking, holding
a variety of general management positions in the UK,
Continental Europe, the Far East and North America; most
recently he was the Director of Financial Strategy at
NatWest. He is a non-executive director of other quoted 
and unquoted companies.

Anthony Dudley Vincent Crook*
Aged 65, became a director in 1989. He entered the venture
capital industry in 1973 and was a founder of Grosvenor
Venture Managers. His earlier career was in marketing 
in the computer, packaging and automotive industries.

Peter Gale*†
Aged 46, was appointed to the Board in 1991 and is deputy
chairman of the Company. He has worked in many of the
divisions of National Westminster Bank, specialising in
investment management. In 1990 he became responsible for
the investment management of National Westminster Bank
Group Pension Funds.

Michael John Glover
Aged 63, was appointed to the Board in 1991. Prior to
becoming involved in private equity fund management 
in 1984, he was an executive with electronics companies
operating in the UK, Far East and North America. 
His experience encompasses more than 15 years 
at chief executive and board level.

* Member of the Audit and Valuation Committee.

† Member of the Management Engagement Committee.

All directors are members of the Nomination Committee.

All the directors are non-executive.
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The directors present the annual report and financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2001.

Principal activity and business review 
The principal activity of the Company is to operate as 
an investment trust providing development capital for
unquoted companies. 

A review of the business for the year is given in the
Chairman’s Statement on page 2 and in the Investment
Manager’s Review which begins on page 3.

Status of the Company
The Inland Revenue has approved the Company as an
investment trust for the purposes of section 842 of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (“ICTA 1988”) 
for the years ended 31 December 1999 and 2000. In the
opinion of the directors, the Company has conducted its
affairs so as to enable it to maintain approval as an
investment trust for the year ended 31 December 2001. 
It is the Company’s intention to continue to seek
authorisation under section 842 of ICTA 1988. 

The Company is not a close company within the meaning
of the provisions of ICTA 1988.

The Company is an investment company within the
meaning of section 266 of the Companies Act 1985.

The Company’s shares are eligible investments within 
the stocks and shares component of an Individual 
Savings Account. 

Results and dividend
The revenue for the Company is set out in the Statement 
of Total Return on page 26. Revenue for the year, after
taxation, was £2,420,000 (2000: £4,623,000).

The directors recommend the payment of a net final
dividend of 8.00p per ordinary share for the year ended 
31 December 2001. Subject to the approval of this dividend
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”), it will
be paid on 23 April 2002 to shareholders on the register of
members at the close of business on 8 March 2002. 

The proposed dividend will absorb £2,015,000 and will
result in a transfer to the revenue reserve of £405,000.

Derivative transactions
The Company has not entered into any derivative
transactions during the year.

Directors
The directors of the Company are listed on page 19.
Mr P L Brooke was appointed as a director of the 
Company on 1 May 2001. In accordance with the Articles 
of Association, Mr Brooke, having been appointed since 
the last AGM, will retire at the Company’s forthcoming
AGM and offer himself for election.

Also in accordance with the Articles of Association, 
Mr A D V Crook and Mr M J Glover will retire by rotation at
the Company’s AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election. None of the directors has a service contract
with the Company.

The interests of those persons who were directors at the
end of the year in the ordinary shares of the Company 
were as follows (all holdings are beneficial unless 
stated otherwise):

31 December 1 January
2001 2001

T J Amies 30,000 30,000
P L Brooke – –
D Bucks 6,400 6,400
A D V Crook

– beneficial 14,835 14,835
– non-beneficial 200,000 200,000

P Gale 4,000 4,000
M J Glover

– beneficial 2,121 2,121
– non-beneficial 52,001 52,001

No notification of any change in the above interests has been
received from 31 December 2001 to the date of this report.

Substantial interests
The Company has been notified under sections 198 to 202
of the Companies Act 1985 that the following shareholders
have an interest in 3% or more of the issued share capital:

% of issued
Ordinary share

shares capital

Merrill Lynch Investment 
Managers* 6,019,434 23.90

NatWest Pension Trustees Ltd 3,030,659 12.03
Halifax Group plc 2,991,785 11.88
Wolverhampton Borough 

Council S/F 2,481,788 9.85
Clients of Exeter Asset 

Management Limited 1,925,000 7.64
The Scottish Investment 

Trust PLC 1,600,000 6.35
The Co-operative Insurance 

Society Limited 1,350,000 5.36

*On behalf of discretionary and non-discretionary clients
and staff, including 1,019,619 ordinary shares (4.05%)
beneficially owned by BBC Pension Trust Limited Fund RW. 

No other shareholder had notified an interest of 3% or
more in the Company’s ordinary share capital as at 
26 February 2002.

Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2001
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Directors’ Report continued
for the year ended 31 December 2001

Investment management and administration
The Company has an investment management agreement
dated 30 March 1995 with Merrill Lynch Investment
Managers Limited (“MLIM”), which sets out the terms
under which MLIM is appointed as investment manager 
to the Company.

The agreement may be terminated without penalty on two
years’ notice by either party. The management fee is based
on the value of the Company as at the end of each quarter
and is set at 2.25% per annum on the value of unquoted
investments and 0.75% per annum on the value of the
Company’s gross assets after deducting the value of
unquoted investments and short-term liabilities. 

Under the terms of a delegation agreement between 
MLIM and Hg Investment Managers Limited (“HgCapital”),
MLIM’s duties as investment manager have been delegated
to HgCapital.

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Group Services Limited
(“MLIMGS”) acts as the secretary and administrator of the
Company and The Bank of New York Europe Limited
(“BNYE”) is the custodian of the Company’s assets. The
annual administration and custodian fee is 0.1% of the
Company’s gross assets. In addition, MLIM is reimbursed
certain expenses incurred in the performance of its duties. 

At 31 December 2001, MLIM and its subsidiaries
beneficially held 600,806 ordinary shares or 2.39% of 
the issued share capital of the Company (2000: 581,306 
or 2.31%).

Both MLIM and MLIMGS are subsidiaries of Merrill Lynch 
& Co., Inc.

Voting policy
The exercise of voting rights attached to the Company’s
portfolio has been delegated to MLIM. 

MLIM’s voting policy, by which HgCapital is bound, is:

• to vote at all general meetings of UK companies in
which its clients are invested;

• to vote in favour of proposals which it expects to
enhance shareholder value; 

• to vote against proposals which it believes may damage
shareholders’ rights or economic interests; in these
situations it would normally have raised its concerns
with management in advance;

• to abstain on proposals which it feels unable to support
but believes would be against its clients’ interests to
oppose publicly; and

• in all situations the economic interests of its clients will
be paramount.

Donations
The Company made no political or charitable donations
during the period.

Payment of suppliers
It is the general policy of the Company to pay for the supply
of goods and services within 30 days of the date of any
invoice. The Company has no trade creditors.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company will
be held at the offices of HgCapital, Third Floor, Minerva
House, 3-5 Montague Close, London SE1 9DH on Thursday,
11 April 2002 at 12.00 noon. Notice of the AGM is given on
page 43 of this report.

Authority to buy back shares
The directors’ authority to buy back shares for cancellation
was renewed at last year’s AGM. However, no shares were
purchased and cancelled during the year and up to 
26 February 2002. The existing authority will expire on 
9 October 2002. 

The directors are proposing that their authority to buy 
back ordinary shares for cancellation be renewed at the
forthcoming AGM, and are seeking authority to purchase
up to 3,775,000 ordinary shares (being 14.99% of the issued
share capital). This authority, unless renewed, will expire
on 10 October 2003.

Purchases of ordinary shares will only be made through
the market for cash at prices below the prevailing net asset 
value (“NAV”) per ordinary share. Under the Listing Rules
of the Financial Services Authority, the maximum price that 
can be paid is 5% above the average of the market values
of the ordinary shares for the five business days before the
purchase is made. The minimum price that may be paid
will be 25p per share (being the nominal value of a share).
Ordinary shares that are purchased will be cancelled. In
making purchases, the Company will deal only with
member firms of the London Stock Exchange.

Authority of directors to allot shares 
Resolutions 9 and 10 to be proposed at the AGM are similar
to the authorities given to the directors at last year’s AGM. 
By law, directors are not permitted to allot new shares (or
to grant rights over shares) unless authorised to do so by
shareholders. In addition, the directors require specific
authority from shareholders before allotting new shares 
(or granting rights over shares) for cash without first
offering them to existing shareholders in proportion to
their holdings. Resolution 9 gives the directors, for the
period until the conclusion of the AGM in 2003, the
necessary authority to allot securities up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £2,098,000, which is equivalent to
8,392,000 ordinary shares of 25p each and approximately
one third of the issued ordinary share capital.
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Resolution 10 empowers the directors until the conclusion
of the AGM in 2003, or if earlier, the expiry of 15 months
from the date on which resolution 10 is passed, to allot
securities for cash, otherwise than to existing shareholders
on a pro rata basis, up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£314,834, which is equivalent to 1,259,336 ordinary shares
and approximately 5% of the issued share capital. In no
circumstances would the directors use this authority to
dilute the interests of existing shareholders by issuing
shares at a price which is less than the NAV attributable 
to the shares at the time of issue.

Auditors
On 28 June 2001, Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor,
transferred its entire business to Ernst & Young LLP, a
limited liability partnership incorporated under the Limited
Liability Partnerships Act 2000. Under section 26(5) of the
Companies Act 1989, the Board has consented to treating
the appointment of Ernst & Young as extending to Ernst &
Young LLP with effect from 28 June 2001.

As auditors, Ernst & Young LLP have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and resolutions proposing
their re-appointment and authorising the directors to
determine their remuneration will be submitted at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Group Services Limited
Secretary
26 February 2002
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Corporate Governance and Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2001

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate
governance. The Board has put in place a framework for
corporate governance that it believes is suitable for an
investment trust and which enables the Company to
comply with the Principles of Good Governance and Code 
of Best Practice (“the Combined Code”) prepared by the
Committee on Corporate Governance, published in 
June 1998.

The Board considers that the Company has complied 
with the provisions contained within Section 1 of the
Combined Code throughout this accounting period, and 
this statement describes how the relevant principles of
governance are applied to the Company.

The Board
The Board currently consists of six non-executive directors,
the majority of whom are independent of Merrill Lynch
Investment Managers Limited (“MLIM”) and the Investment
Manager. Their biographies, on page 19, highlight their
wide range of business experience. The structure of the
Board is such that it is considered unnecessary to identify 
a senior non-executive director other than the chairman.
All new directors are given a briefing on the Company and
training is arranged as necessary.

The Board is supplied in a timely manner with information
in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to
discharge its duties. Strategic issues and all operational
matters of a material nature are determined by the Board.

The directors retire by rotation at every third Annual
General Meeting (”AGM”) and any directors appointed to
the Board since the previous AGM also retire and stand for
election. Directors who reach the age of 70 will retire at the
next AGM of the Company and at each following AGM, but
will be eligible for reappointment.

The Board meets at least five times a year and between
these meetings there is regular contact with HgCapital, 
to which the investment management of the Company 
has been delegated. The directors also have access to 
the advice and services of the company secretary, who 
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. Where necessary, in 
the furtherance of their duties, the directors may seek
independent professional advice at the expense of 
the Company.

The Board has responsibility for ensuring that the
Company keeps proper accounting records that disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Company and enable it to ensure that the accounts
comply with the Companies Act 1985. The Board is also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities. Finally, it is 
the Board’s responsibility to present a balanced and
understandable assessment which extends to the interim
and other price-sensitive public reports. The Board has
delegated the following areas of responsibility:

Management and administration
The management of the investment portfolio has been
delegated to MLIM and sub-delegated by MLIM to 
Hg Investment Managers Limited (“HgCapital”). Certain
other functions have been delegated by the Board to MLIM
and its subsidiary companies. Company secretarial
functions are carried out by Merrill Lynch Investment
Managers Group Services Limited. Custody and settlement
services are undertaken by The Bank of New York Europe
Limited (“BNYE”), a subsidiary of The Bank of New York. 

The Board has delegated the exercise of voting rights
attaching to the securities held in the portfolio to MLIM.
Details of MLIM’s voting policy are set out on page 21.

All other matters are reserved for the approval of the Board.

Board committees
As all the directors of the Company are non-executive, the
Board as a whole fulfils the function of the Nomination
Committee, which meets when necessary to select and
propose suitable candidates for appointment.

Separate Audit and Valuation and Management
Engagement Committees have been established. 
These committees consist of at least three directors, 
the majority of whom are not employed by and are not
former employees of MLIM, HgCapital or any of their
associates or subsidiaries.

The Audit and Valuation Committee, which has written
terms of reference detailing its scope and duties, examines
the effectiveness of the control systems. The Committee
also receives information from the corporate audit and
compliance departments of MLIM and HgCapital. The
Committee reviews the scope, results, cost effectiveness,
independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The
Committee also reviews the valuation of the investments
within the portfolio in detail, semi-annually, at each
balance sheet date.

The Management Engagement Committee, which also has
written terms of reference detailing its scope and duties,
regularly reviews the terms of the investment management
and administration contract.

Internal controls
The Board is responsible for the internal controls of the
Company and for reviewing their effectiveness, for ensuring
that financial information published or used within the
business is reliable, and for regularly monitoring
compliance with regulations governing the operation 
of investment trusts. The Board continually reviews the
effectiveness of the internal control system. The processes
indicated below have been put in place to ensure that the
Company complied with the Combined Code fully for the
year ended 31 December 2001 and will continue to do so 
for the year ended 31 December 2002.

As part of the Board’s responsibility for the internal control
system, an ongoing process has been established in
conjunction with MLIM and HgCapital, for identifying,
evaluating and managing the Company’s significant risks.



Corporate Governance and Directors’ Responsibilities 
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Controls of the risks identified, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, are
embedded in the operations of MLIM, HgCapital and BNYE.
There is a monitoring and reporting process to review
controls put in place to track risks identified, carried out by
MLIM’s corporate audit department. MLIM reports to the
Company its review of internal controls, which include
checks on the custodian, formally on a semi-annual basis
and verbally at each Board meeting.

MLIM, in conjunction with the Investment Manager, 
HgCapital, prepares revenue forecasts and management
accounts, which allow the Board to assess the Company’s
activities and to review its performance. 

The Board and the Investment Manager have agreed
clearly defined investment criteria, specified levels of
authority and exposure limits. Reports on these issues,
including performance statistics and investment valuations,
are submitted to the Board at each meeting. The
Investment Manager’s evaluation procedure and financial
analysis of the companies within the portfolio includes
detailed research and appraisal and also takes into account
environmental policies and other business issues.

The controls and procedures of MLIM and the Investment
Manager are monitored by MLIM’s and HgCapital’s
respective corporate auditors and compliance
departments, who report to the Audit Committee. The 
Audit Committee also receives a report from BNYE on 
the internal controls of its custodial operations.

The Board recognises that these control systems can only
be designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and relies on the operating controls
established by MLIM, HgCapital and BNYE.

Financial statements
The Board is also required to ensure that the financial
statements give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company as at the end of each financial year and of the
profit of the Company for that period.

The Board considers that in preparing the financial
statements on pages 26 to 38, the Company has used
appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied
(except where disclosed) and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and estimates and that all
accounting standards that it considers to be applicable
have been followed.

The Board believes it is appropriate to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Relations with shareholders
All shareholders have the opportunity to attend and vote at
the AGM. The notice of the AGM sets out the business of
the Meeting and any item not of an entirely routine nature
is explained in the Directors’ Report on pages 20 to 22.
Separate resolutions are proposed for substantive issues.

In addition, both the Board and representatives of the
Investment Manager are available to answer shareholders’
questions at the AGM. Proxy voting figures are announced
to the shareholders at the AGM.

The Investment Manager holds regular discussions with
major shareholders, the feedback from which is greatly
valued by the Board. In addition, the chairman and
directors are available to enter into dialogue and
correspondence with shareholders regarding the progress
and performance of the Company. The section entitled
“Shareholder Information”, on pages 40 and 41, provides 
an overview of useful information available to shareholders. 

Membership of the Board Committees

Audit and Valuation Committee
Timothy Amies (Chairman)
David Bucks
Anthony Crook
Peter Gale

Management Engagement Committee
David Bucks (Chairman)
Timothy Amies
Peter Gale

Nomination Committee
David Bucks (Chairman)
Timothy Amies
Piers Brooke
Anthony Crook
Peter Gale
Michael Glover
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Report of the Independent Auditors 
to the Members of Mercury Grosvenor Trust plc
for the year ended 31 December 2001

We have audited the Company’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2001, which comprise the
Statement of Total Return (incorporating the Revenue
Account), Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement and the
related notes 1 to 19. These financial statements have been
prepared on the basis of the accounting policies therein.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the annual
report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards
are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and 
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’
Report is not consistent with the financial statements, 
if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, 
if we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if the information specified by
law or the Listing Rules regarding directors’ remuneration
and transactions with the Company is not disclosed.

We review whether the statement on Corporate
Governance reflects the Company’s compliance with the
seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s
statement on internal controls covers all risks and
controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of
either the Company’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the annual
report and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. This other information
comprises the Directors’ Report, Chairman’s Statement,
Investment Manager’s Report, Investment Listing and
Corporate Governance Statement. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend
to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing
Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of
the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations that we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at 
31 December 2001 and of the revenue of the Company 
for the year then ended and have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London
26 February 2002
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Statement of Total Return (incorporating the revenue account)
for the year ended 31 December 2001

Revenue Capital Total
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Losses)/gains on investments 10 – – (7,142) 16,280 (7,142) 16,280 
Income 2 3,893 7,332 – – 3,893 7,332 
Investment management fee 3 (449) (453) (1,346) (1,359) (1,795) (1,812)
Other expenses 4 (329) (368) – – (329) (368)

Net return before finance 
costs and taxation 3,115 6,511 (8,488) 14,921 (5,373) 21,432 

Interest payable and 
similar charges 6 (22) (32) (66) (96) (88) (128)

Return on ordinary activities 
before taxation 3,093 6,479 (8,554) 14,825 (5,461) 21,304

Taxation on ordinary activities 7 (673) (1,856) 423 437 (250) (1,419)

Return on ordinary activities 
after taxation 2,420 4,623 (8,131) 15,262 (5,711) 19,885

Dividends in respect of equity shares 8 (2,015) (3,652) – – (2,015) (3,652)

Transfer to/(from) reserves 405 971 (8,131) 15,262 (7,726) 16,233 

Return per ordinary share 9

– calculated on weighted
average shares 9.61p 17.89p (32.28p) 59.07p (22.67p) 76.96p 

– calculated on actual shares 9.61p 18.35p (32.28p) 60.60p (22.67p) 78.95p 

Dividend per ordinary share 8 8.00p 14.50p – – 8.00p 14.50p 

The revenue column of this statement is the profit and loss account of the Company.
The movements in reserves are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.
All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.
No operations were acquired or discontinued during the year.

The notes on pages 29 to 38 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2001

2001 2000
Note £’000 £’000 

Fixed assets
Investments 10 

– Listed 14,238 16,452 
– Unlisted at directors’ valuation 60,970 62,672 

75,208 79,124 
Current assets
Debtors 11 4,371 4,555 
Government securities 12 18,548 15,508 
Cash 13 313 9,039 

23,232 29,102

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 14 2,645 4,705 

Net current assets 20,587 24,397 

Net assets 95,795 103,521 

Capital and reserves
Share capital 16 6,296 6,296 
Share premium 17 14,123 14,123 
Capital redemption reserve 17 1,248 1,248 
Capital reserve - realised 17 68,723 63,914 
Capital reserve - unrealised 17 2,388 15,328 
Revenue reserve 17 3,017 2,612 

Total equity shareholders’ funds 18 95,795 103,521 

Net asset value per ordinary share 9 380.3p 411.0p 

The financial statements on pages 26 to 38 were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 February 2002 and were signed
on its behalf by:

David Bucks, Chairman
Timothy Amies, Director

The notes on pages 29 to 38 form part of these financial statements.



Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2001

2001 2000
Note £’000 £’000

Net cash flow from operating activities 4(b) 2,043 3,517 

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 104 51 

Taxation (493) (163)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Cost of purchase of fixed asset investments (22,696) (13,008)
Proceeds from the sale of fixed asset investments 19,470 24,645 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow for capital expenditure and financial investment (3,226) 11,637 

Equity dividends paid (3,652) (2,075)

Financing
Purchase of ordinary shares – (2,575)

Net cash outflow from financing – (2,575)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow before management of liquid resources (5,224) 10,392 

Management of liquid resources
Purchase of Government securities (50,687) (48,994)
Sale/redemption of Government securities 47,185 47,478 

Net cash outflow from management of liquid resources (3,502) (1,516)

(Decrease)/increase in cash 13 (8,726) 8,876 

The notes on pages 29 to 38 form part of these financial statements.

28

M
ercury G

rosvenor Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2001



29

M
ercury G

rosvenor Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2001

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2001

1. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investments. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable Accounting Standards and with
the Statement of Recommended Practice “Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies”.

Associated undertakings
Certain venture capital investments deemed to be associated undertakings are carried at cost or valuation in accordance
with the Company’s normal accounting policy and Financial Reporting Standard 9.

Investment income and interest receivable
Dividends receivable on quoted equity shares are accounted for on the ex-dividend date. Dividends receivable on equity
shares where there is no ex-dividend date and on non-equity shares are brought into account when the Company’s right 
to receive payment is established.

The return on deep discounted loan stock and Government securities is recognised by allocating the net receipts that the
holder is entitled to receive over the term of the debt security at a constant rate on the carrying amount.

Interest on other loans and short-term deposits is accounted for on an accruals basis.

Management fee and finance costs
The annual investment management fee and finance costs are charged 75% to capital reserve - realised and 25% to the
revenue account. This is in line with the Board’s expected split of long-term returns, in the form of capital gains and income
respectively, from the investment portfolio of the Company.

Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. All administrative expenses, excluding the management fee, are
charged wholly to the revenue account.

Expenses which are incidental to the purchase or sale of an investment are included within the cost or deducted from the
proceeds of the investment. 

Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the local currency at actual exchange rates as at the 
date of transaction. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the year end are reported at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the year end. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of
transaction is included as an exchange gain or loss in capital reserve or in the revenue account, depending on whether the
gain or loss is of a capital or revenue nature respectively.

Taxation
Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method on all timing differences to the extent that they are expected 
to reverse in the future without being replaced, calculated at the rate at which it is anticipated the timing differences 
will reverse.

Investments

Listed:
Investments listed on recognised stock exchanges are valued at mid-market prices ruling at the close of business at each
balance sheet date subject to provisions for illiquidity or trading restrictions made at the Board’s discretion.

Unlisted:
The directors’ valuation of unlisted investments is based upon the British Venture Capital Association guidelines using the 
following criteria:

(i) initially, investments are valued at cost, including fees and transaction costs;
(ii) after the receipt of the first audited financial statements following initial investment, companies are valued by applying

a discount of between 25%-50% to the equivalent quoted earnings multiple;
(iii) where more appropriate, investments are valued with reference to their net assets rather than to their earnings; and
(iv) appropriate provisions are made against all individual valuations where necessary to reflect unsatisfactory financial

performance leading to diminution in value.

Both realised and unrealised gains and losses arising on investments are taken to capital reserves.



Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Capital reserves

Capital reserve - realised
The following are accounted for in this reserve:

(i) gains and losses on the realisation of investments;
(ii) losses on investments within the portfolio where there is little prospect of realisation or recovering any value; and
(iii) realised exchange differences of a capital nature.

Capital reserve - unrealised
The following are accounted for in this reserve:

(i) increases and decreases in the valuation of investments held at the year end; and
(ii) unrealised exchange differences of a capital nature.

2. Income
2001 2000

£’000 £’000

Income from investments
Franked investment income 205 19
UK unfranked investment income 2,622 5,570
Stock dividends – 22
Overseas dividends 6 43

2,833 5,654
Other income
Gilt interest 954 1,534
Deposit interest 104 51
Other fees 2 93

1,060 1,678 

Total income 3,893 7,332 

Total income comprises:
Dividends 211 84 
Interest 3,680 7,155 
Other fees 2 93 

3,893 7,332 

Income from investments
UK listed 205 19 
Overseas 6 43 
Unlisted 2,622 5,592 

2,833 5,654 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2001

3. Investment management fee

Revenue Capital Total
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

Investment management fee 382 386 1,146 1,158 1,528 1,544 
Irrecoverable VAT thereon 67 67 200 201 267 268 

449 453 1,346 1,359 1,795 1,812 

Details of the investment management, custodian and administration agreement are disclosed in the Directors’ Report 
on page 21.

4. Other expenses

(a) Operating expenses

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Custodian and administration fees 126 127 
Directors’ remuneration (note 5) 76 66 
Auditors’ remuneration - audit services 17 17

- taxation and other services 17 12
Other expenses 93 146

329 368

The Company’s total expense ratio calculated as a percentage of average
net assets and including expenses, after relief for taxation, was: 1.44% 1.48%

(b) Reconciliation of net return before finance costs and taxation
to net cash flow from operating activities

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Net return before finance costs and taxation 3,115 6,511 
Investment management fee and finance costs capitalised (1,412) (1,455)
Interest receivable (104) (51)
Decrease/(increase) in accrued income 687 (1,198)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (67) 188 
Effective yield adjustment 462 371 
Tax on investment income included within gross income (638) (849)

Net cash flow from operating activities 2,043 3,517 
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5. Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate emoluments of the directors, excluding VAT where applicable, for the year to 31 December 2001 were
£76,000 (2000: £66,000). The emoluments of the chairman, who was also the highest paid director, were £20,000 
(2000: £17,500). Emoluments of £13,000 were paid to a third party for making available the services of one director. 
The Company does not have a share option scheme or any incentive scheme. No pension contributions were made 
in respect of the directors. There were no employees other than the directors.

6. Interest payable and similar charges

Revenue Capital Total
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Finance charges 22 32 66 96 88 128 

7. Taxation on ordinary activities

Revenue Capital Total
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

The charge based on the profit 
for the year comprises:

UK corporation tax 867 1,939 (423) (437) 444 1,502 
Prior year adjustments (194) (83) – – (194) (83)

673 1,856 (423) (437) 250 1,419

8. Dividends in respect of equity shares

2001 2000

Final proposed dividend of 8.00p (2000: 14.50p) payable on 23 April 2002 2,015 3,652 

9. Return and net asset value per ordinary share

2001 2000

Revenue and capital returns per share are shown below and have been 
calculated using the following:

Net revenue attributable to equity shareholders after taxation £2,420,000 £4,623,000
Net capital (losses)/gains for the year (£8,131,000) £15,262,000
Weighted average number of shares in issue during the year 25,186,755 25,837,319
Actual number of shares in issue at the year end 25,186,755 25,186,755
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2001

9. Return and net asset value per ordinary share continued

2001 2000
Revenue Capital Total Revenue Capital Total

p p p p p p

Return per ordinary share:
Basic 9.61p (32.28p) (22.67p) 17.89p 59.07p 76.96p 
Actual (based on number of shares 

in issue at year end) 9.61p (32.28p) (22.67p) 18.35p 60.60p 78.95p 

The net asset value per share of 380.3p (2000: 411.0p) was calculated by dividing equity shareholders’ funds of £95,795,000 
(2000: £103,521,000) by the number of shares in issue at the year end of 25,186,755 (2000: 25,186,755).

10. Investments

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Investments listed on the London Stock Exchange 6,107 14,237 
Investments traded on NASDAQ 1,564 2,215 
Investments traded on the Alternative Investment Market 6,567 – 
Unlisted investments 60,970 62,672

75,208 79,124

Equity shares 23,637 40,122 
Convertible securities 12,024 4,489 
Fixed income securities 39,547 34,513

75,208 79,124 

Listed Unlisted Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Opening valuation 16,452 62,672 79,124 
Opening unrealised appreciation (9,321) (6,007) (15,328)

Opening book cost 7,131 56,665 63,796 
Movements in the year:
Additions at cost 1,423 21,273 22,696 
Disposals - proceeds (1,094) (18,376) (19,470)

- realised gains on sales 1,200 4,598 5,798 

Closing book cost of investments 8,660 64,160 72,820
Closing unrealised appreciation/(depreciation) 5,578 (3,190) 2,388 

Closing valuation of investments 14,238 60,970 75,208 
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10. Investments continued

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Gains on sales of investments 5,798 6,625 
Change in unrealised appreciation (12,940) 9,655

(7,142) 16,280

Details of significant investments:
The Company holds more than 20% of the total issued share capital (including preference shares) of certain companies.
The net assets and profit after tax for the most recent accounting period of these companies are as follows:

Net assets/ Profit/(Loss)
(liabilities) after tax

£’000 £’000

Corinthian Marketing plc (471) 102 
Kaye Holdings Ltd 2,442 (631)

The Company has equity holdings of 10% or more of the following classes of share in the investee companies listed below,
most of which are registered and operate in England and Wales.

Company Shareholding % of class*

Bertram Group Holdings Ltd “A” Ord. 14.6
Bertram Group Holdings Ltd “C” Ord. 12.6
Biocode Inc “E” Pref. 11.1
Burns e-Commerce Solutions Pref. Ord. 12.5
Corinthian Marketing plc “A” Ord. 31.6
Corinthian Marketing plc “A” Pref. 32.2
Eagle Rock Entertainment Ltd “A” Ord. 18.1
Kaye Holdings Ltd Pref. Ord. 29.9
Kaye Holdings Ltd “A” Ord. 10.7
Kaye Holdings Ltd First Def. 10.7
Newchurch Ltd Pref. Ord. 12.5
Nova Homes Ltd “A” Ord. 10.4
Orbiscom Ltd Pref. Ord. 23.0
PARC Group International plc “B” Ord. 11.0
PII Group Ltd “B” Ord. 11.6
Profiad Ltd “B” Ord. 13.9
Raymarine Group Ltd Ord. 14.1
The Sanctuary Spa Group Ltd “A” Ord. 15.3
SGI (Holdings) Ltd “A” Ord. 14.8
Trados, Inc Conv. Pref. 23.1
Trados, Inc Pref. Ord. 11.5
Tunstall Holdings Ltd “B” Ord. 12.2

* Investee companies may issue a number of different classes of share. The percentage of the total issued ordinary share capital of the
twenty largest investments held by the Company is shown in the table on page 17.

Further information on those investments which, in the opinion of the directors, have a significant effect on the Company’s financial
statements, is contained in the Investment Manager’s Review on pages 3 to 16.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2001

11. Debtors

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Taxation recoverable 583 80 
Prepayments and accrued income 3,788 4,475

4,371 4,555 

12. Government securities

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Opening valuation 15,508 14,363 
Add: Purchases at cost 50,687 48,994 
Less: Sales and redemptions (47,185) (47,478)
Unrealised capital (losses)/profits treated as revenue (119) 5 
Realised capital losses treated as revenue (343) (376)

Closing valuation 18,548 15,508 

13. Movement in net funds

(a) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Change in net funds (8,726) 8,876 
Net funds at 1 January 2001 9,039 163 

Net funds at 31 December 2001 313 9,039 

(b) Analysis of changes in net funds

At At
1 January Cash 31 December

2001 flows 2001
£’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank 9,039 (8,726) 313 



14. Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Proposed dividend 2,015 3,652 
Corporation tax payable – 356 
Sundry creditors 630 697 

2,645 4,705 

15. Risk

The following disclosures relating to the risks faced by the Company are provided in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 13, “Derivatives and other financial instruments disclosures”.

Financial instruments and risk profile
The Company’s primary investment objective is to achieve long-term capital appreciation by investing in unquoted
companies. Additionally, the Company holds gilts, cash and short-term deposits and items such as debtors and creditors
arising directly from its operations. The numerical disclosures below exclude short-term debtors and creditors. By their
very nature, investment activities undertaken to achieve the Company’s objective involve certain inherent risks, primarily
valuation risk. These are considered further below.

Valuation risk
The company’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly movements in the value of its underlying investments. 
A breakdown of the Company’s portfolio is given on page 18. In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies, set 
out on pages 29 and 30, all underlying investments are valued by the directors in accordance with the current guidelines
issued by the British Venture Capital Association. The Company does not hedge against movements in the value of these
investments. Uncertainty arises as a result of future changes in the valuation of the Company’s underlying investments, 
the majority of which are unquoted.

In the opinion of the directors, the diversified nature of the Company’s portfolio significantly reduces the risks of investing 
in unquoted companies.

Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk as a result of investing in funds and companies in foreign currencies. The sterling
value of these assets can be significantly influenced by movements in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not
normally hedge against foreign currency movements affecting the value of its investments, but takes account of this risk
when making investment decisions.

Interest rate risk
In general, the Company has relatively little direct exposure to interest rate movements, although the income from funds
awaiting investment will be affected by these movements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2001

15. Risk continued
Financial assets of the Company

2001 2000

Fixed Floating Non interest Fixed Floating Non interest
rate rate bearing Total rate rate bearing Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling 52,174 313 22,766 75,253 46,250 9,039 28,265 83,554 
Euro 1,757 – 8,055 9,812 2,623 – 6,048 8,671 
US dollar 4,164 – 4,840 9,004 1,148 – 10,298 11,446 

Total 58,095 313 35,661 94,069 50,021 9,039 44,611 103,671 

The fixed rate assets comprise gilts and fixed rate lendings to investee companies and bear a weighted average interest
rate of 11.8% per annum and have a weighted average life to maturity of 5.8 years.

The floating rate assets consist of cash.

The non interest bearing assets represent the equity content of the investment portfolio.

The Company did not have any outstanding borrowings at the year end.

Currency exposure
The currency denomination of the Company’s financial assets is shown above. Short-term debtors and creditors, which are
excluded, are predominantly in sterling, the functional currency of the Company.

16. Share capital

2001 2000
Nominal Nominal
No. ‘000 £’000 No. ‘000 £’000

Authorised:
40,000,000 ordinary shares of 25p each 40,000 10,000 40,000 10,000 

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Ordinary shares
At 1 January 25,187 6,296 25,933 6,483 
Shares purchased and cancelled – – (746) (187)

At 31 December 25,187 6,296 25,187 6,296 



Notes to the Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 December 2001

17. Share premium account and reserves

Share Capital Capital Capital
premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening reserves as at 1 January 2001 14,123 1,248 63,914 15,328 2,612
Transfer on disposal of investments – – 3,114 (3,114) –
Net gain on sale of investments – – 2,684 – –
Decrease in unrealised appreciation – – – (9,826) –
Retained net revenue for year – – – – 405
Management fee and finance costs 

charged to capital, after taxation – – (989) – –

Closing reserves as at 31 December 2001 14,123 1,248 68,723 2,388 3,017

18. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

2001 2000
£’000 £’000

Opening shareholders’ funds 103,521 89,863 

Revenue profits available for distribution 2,420 4,623 
Ordinary dividend (2,015) (3,652)

Revenue surplus for the year 405 971 
Recognised (losses)/gains on investment portfolio (7,142) 16,280 
Purchase and cancellation of ordinary shares – (2,575)
Management fee and finance costs charged to capital, after taxation (989) (1,018)

Movement in shareholders’ funds (7,726) 13,658 

Closing shareholders’ funds 95,795 103,521 

19. Capital commitment and contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2001, investment purchases of £6,262,000 (2000: £8,055,000) had been authorised and 
contractually committed.
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Analysis of Shareholders
as at 31 December 2001

By type of holder

% of total No. of % of total
No. of shares 2001 2000 holders 2001 2000

Assurance and insurance companies 1,387,500 5.5 6.0 3 0.9 2.2
Banks and nominee companies 15,725,291 62.4 63.9 141 41.7 40.8
Direct private investors 1,490,212 5.9 5.6 137 40.5 43.3
Others 6,583,752 26.2 24.5 57 16.9 13.7

25,186,755 100.0 100.0 338 100.0 100.0

By size of holding

% of total No. of % of total
No. of shares 2001 2000 holders 2001 2000

1 – 5,000 388,506 1.5 1.4 206 60.9 59.3
5,001 – 50,000 1,558,364 6.2 5.4 93 27.5 27.4
50,001 – 100,000 902,970 3.6 3.0 11 3.3 3.7
Over 100,000 22,336,915 88.7 90.2 28 8.3 9.6

25,186,755 100.0 100.0 338 100.0 100.0



Shareholder Information

Financial calendar
The timing of the announcement and publication of the
Company’s results may normally be expected in the
months shown below:

February/March Preliminary results and final
dividend for year announced.
Annual report and accounts
published.

April Annual General Meeting.
Final dividend paid.

August Interim results announced.

Dividend – 2001
The amount of the dividend recommended for the year
ended 31 December 2001 is 8.00p per share.

Ex-dividend date 6 March 2002 
(shares transferred without dividend).

Record date 8 March 2002 
(last date for registering transfers to receive the dividend).

Dividend payment date 23 April 2002

Payment of dividends
Cash dividends will be sent by cheque to the first-named
shareholder at their registered address, together with a tax
voucher. Alternatively, dividends may be paid direct into a
shareholder’s bank account via BACS (Bankers’ Automated
Clearing Service). This may be arranged by contacting the
Company’s registrars, Computershare Investor Services PLC,
on 0870 702 0131. Tax vouchers will be sent on the
payment date to shareholders at their registered address,
unless other instructions have been given.

Dividend reinvestment scheme
Shareholders may request that their dividends be used 
to purchase further shares in the Company. Dividend
reinvestment forms may be obtained from Computershare
Investor Services PLC on calling 0870 702 0131.
Shareholders who have already opted for dividend
reinvestment do not need to re-apply.

Share price
The Company’s mid-market ordinary share price is quoted
daily in the Financial Times under the section “Investment
Trusts”. The share price is also available on the Merrill
Lynch Investment Managers (“MLIM”) website at
www.mlim.co.uk/its

Share dealing
Investors wishing to purchase or sell shares in the Company
may do so through a stockbroker. Most banks also offer
this service.

Uncertificated Securities Regulations 1995 – CREST
The Company’s ordinary shares have joined CREST, an
electronic system for uncertificated securities trading.

Private investors can continue to retain their share
certificates and remain outside the CREST system. Private
investors are able to buy and sell their holdings in the
same way as they did prior to the introduction of CREST,
although there may be differences in dealing charges.

Duration of the Company
The Company, as currently constituted, was established in
1989. The Articles of Association provide for an ordinary
resolution to be put to shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting in the year 2004, to call for an Extraordinary
General Meeting (“EGM”) in the year 2005 to wind up 
the Company voluntarily. If the convening of the EGM is 
not approved in 2004, a similar resolution will be put to
shareholders in the year 2009 and every fifth year thereafter.

Nominee Code
Where shares are held in a nominee company name, the
Company undertakes:

• to provide the nominee company with multiple copies 
of shareholder communications, so long as an indication
of quantities has been provided in advance;

• to allow investors holding shares through a nominee
company to attend general meetings, provided the
correct authority from the nominee company is
available;

• that investors in the Merrill Lynch Investment Trusts
Savings Plan are automatically sent shareholder
communications, including details of general meetings,
together with a form of direction to facilitate voting and
to seek authority to attend; and

• that investors through the Merrill Lynch Investment
Trusts ISA and PEP are able to receive the annual and
interim reports, including details of Annual General
Meetings, by request.

40

M
ercury G

rosvenor Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2001



41

M
ercury G

rosvenor Trust plc
A

nnual report and accounts 2001

Shareholder Information continued

Publication of net asset value
The net asset value (“NAV”) per share of the Company is
calculated monthly with respect to cash, cash equivalents
and quoted investments in the portfolio. Unquoted
investments are revalued biannually.

The NAV is released to the public by the Association of
Investment Trust Companies, through the Company
Announcements Office of the London Stock Exchange, and
is available through the Reuters News Service, under the
code “MLIMINDEX”, and on page 8800 on Topic 3 (ICV) and
under “MLIM” on Bloomberg.

Internet
Details about the Company are also available on the MLIM
website at www.mlim.co.uk/its and shareholders can check
details of their holdings on Computershare’s website at
www.computershare.com

Savings Plan
The Company participates in the Merrill Lynch Investment
Trusts Savings Plan, which facilitates both regular monthly
investments and occasional lump sum investments in the
Company’s shares. Investors who would like a brochure
giving details of the Savings Plan should call MLIM free 
on 0800 445522.

Personal Equity Plan (“PEP”)
PEPs have been superseded by ISAs as the tax-efficient
method of investment, but all PEP investments already in
force by 5 April 1999 retained their tax-free status in line
with ISAs. Further to changes in legislation, you may now
transfer any existing PEPs with other fund managers to
MLIM for investment in the Company’s ordinary shares
without affecting any of the tax benefits you currently enjoy.

For more information on PEP transfers, or your existing
Merrill Lynch Investment Trusts PEP, call free on 
0800 445522.

Individual Savings Accounts (“ISAs”)
ISAs are a tax-efficient method of investing, introduced 
by the Government on 6 April 1999. The Company is a
qualifying investment in the stocks and shares component
of either a mini or maxi ISA. In the tax year 2001/2002
investors may invest up to £7,000 in the stocks and shares
component of a maxi ISA, or up to £3,000 in the stocks and
shares component of a mini ISA. 

The Company’s shares are eligible investments within the
Merrill Lynch Investment Trusts ISA, which is a maxi ISA,
details of which are available from MLIM by calling free 
on 0800 445522.

Shareholder enquiries
The Company’s registrars are Computershare Investor
Services PLC and they maintain the share register. In the
event of queries regarding your holding of shares, please
contact the registrars on 0870 702 0131. Changes of name
or address must be notified in writing to the registrars at:

Computershare Investor Services PLC
PO Box 435 
Owen House 
8 Bankhead Crossway North
Edinburgh EH11 4BR

Details relating to your holding can also be checked
through the Computershare website. As a security check,
certain information needs to be input accurately to gain
access to an individual’s account. These include your folio
number available from either your share certificate or tax
voucher. The address of the Computershare website is:
www.computershare.com

General enquiries, Savings Plan, PEP or ISA enquiries
Enquiries about the Company or the Savings Plan, PEP 
and ISA should be directed to:

The Secretary 
Mercury Grosvenor Trust plc
33 King William Street, London EC4R 9AS
Telephone: 0800 445522



Glossary

Investment Trusts
Net asset value per share (“NAV”)
This is the value of the Company’s assets attributable 
to one ordinary share. It is calculated by dividing
“shareholders’ funds” by the total number of shares in
issue. For example, as at 31 December 2001, shareholders’
funds were £95,795,000 and there were 25,186,755 ordinary
shares in issue; the NAV was therefore 380.3p per share.

Shareholders’ funds are calculated by deducting from the
Company’s total assets its current and long-term liabilities
and any provision for liabilities and charges.

Discount
Investment trust shares can trade at a discount to NAV.
This occurs when the share price is less than the NAV and
investors may therefore buy shares at less than the value
attributable to them by reference to the underlying assets.
The discount is the difference between the share price and
the NAV, expressed as a percentage of the NAV. For
example, if the NAV were 400p and the share price were
360p, the discount would be 10%.

Premium
A premium occurs when the share price is higher than 
the NAV and investors would therefore be paying more 
than the value attributable to the shares by reference to 
the underlying assets. For example, if the share price were
450p and the NAV were 400p, the premium would be 12.5%.

Discounts and premiums are mainly the consequence of
supply and demand for the shares on the stock market.

Private Equity
Expansion capital
The provision of capital to an existing, established
business, to finance organic growth or acquisitions -
sometimes also known as venture capital.

IPO (initial public offering)
An offering by a company of its share capital to the public
with a view to seeking an admission of its shares to a
recognised stock exchange.

IRR (internal rate of return)
The annual internal rate of return received by an investor 
in a fund. It is calculated from cash drawn from and
returned to the investor together with the residual value 
of the fund unit.

LBO (leveraged buy-out)
The purchase of all or most of a company’s share capital,
usually by its managers, funded mainly by borrowings often
secured on the company’s assets, resulting in a post-
financing capital structure of the company which is 
heavily geared.

LP (Limited Partnership)
An organisation made up of a managing general partner
and limited partners, who invest money but have limited
liability, are not involved in day-to-day management, and
usually cannot lose more than their capital contribution.
Usually limited partners receive income, capital gains and
tax benefits; the general partner usually receives a fee and
a percentage of capital gains and income.

MBI (management buy-in)
A change of ownership, where an incoming management
team raises financial backing, normally a mix of equity and
debt, to acquire a business.

MBO (management buy-out)
A change of ownership, where the incumbent management
team raises financial backing, normally a mix of equity and
debt, to acquire a business it manages.

P2P (public to private)
The purchase of all of a listed company’s quoted shares
using a special-purpose vehicle funded with a mixture of
debt and unquoted equity.

Unquoted company
Any company whose shares are not quoted on a recognised
stock exchange.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of
Mercury Grosvenor Trust plc will be held at the offices of 
HgCapital, Third Floor, Minerva House, 3-5 Montague
Close, London SE1 9DH, on Thursday, 11 April 2002 at
12.00 noon to transact the following business:

Ordinary business
1. To receive the report of the directors and the financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2001,
together with the report of the auditors thereon.

2. To declare a dividend of 8.00p per share.

3. To re-elect Mr A D V Crook as a director.

4. To re-elect Mr M J Glover as a director.

5. To elect Mr P L Brooke as a director.

6. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors to 
the Company.

7. To authorise the directors to determine the auditors’
remuneration.

Special business
8. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following

resolution as a special resolution:

THAT in substitution for the Company’s existing
authority to make market purchases of ordinary shares
of 25p in the Company (“ordinary shares”), the
Company be and it is hereby authorised in accordance
with section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”)
to make market purchases of ordinary shares (within
the meaning of section 163 of the Act) provided that:

(i) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby
authorised to be purchased is 3,775,000;

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for an
ordinary share shall be 25p;

(iii) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which
may be paid for an ordinary share shall be the
lower of 5% above the average of the market
values of the ordinary shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the
purchase and the net asset value per ordinary
share on the date of purchase; and

(iv) unless renewed, the authority hereby conferred
shall expire on 10 October 2003 save that the
Company may, prior to such expiry, enter into a
contract to purchase ordinary shares which will
or may be completed or executed wholly or partly
after such expiry.

9. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following
resolution as an ordinary resolution:

THAT the Board be and it is hereby generally and
unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers 
of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the
meaning of section 80 of the Companies Act 1985) up
to an aggregate nominal amount of £2,098,000

provided that this authority shall expire on the date of
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company after
the passing of this resolution, save that the Company
may before such expiry make an offer or agreement
which would or might require relevant securities to 
be allotted after such expiry and the Board may allot
relevant securities in pursuance of such an offer or
agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had 
not expired.

10. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following
resolution as a special resolution:

THAT, subject to the passing of resolution 9 above, the
Board be and it is hereby empowered, pursuant to
section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 (“the Act”), to
allot equity securities (as defined in section 94 of the
Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by the
previous resolution as if sub-section (1) of section 89 
of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided
that this power be limited to:

(i) the allotment (other than pursuant to sub-
paragraph (ii) below) of equity securities up to 
an aggregate nominal amount of £314,834;

(ii) the allotment of equity securities in connection
with a rights issue in favour of all holders of
relevant equity securities where the equity
securities respectively attributable to the
interests of all holders of relevant equity
securities are proportionate (as nearly as may be)
to the respective numbers of relevant equity
securities held by them (but subject to such
exclusions or other arrangements as the Board
may deem necessary or expedient in relation to
fractional entitlements or legal or practical
problems under the laws of, or the requirements
of, any regulatory body or any stock exchange in
any territory or otherwise howsoever); 

and shall expire on the earlier of the date which is 
15 months after the date on which this resolution is
passed and the date of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company after the passing of this
resolution, save that the Company may before such
expiry make an offer or agreement which would or
might require equity securities to be allotted after such
expiry and the Board may allot equity securities in
pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the power
conferred hereby had not expired.

By order of the Board
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Group Services Limited
Secretary
26 February 2002



Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

Notes:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting

may appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote 
in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of 
the Company.

2. Proxy forms must reach the office of the Company’s
registrars in Bristol by 12.00 noon on 9 April 2002. 
A form of proxy is provided to shareholders with the
annual report. Completion and return of the form of
proxy will not prevent a member from attending the
meeting and voting in person.

3. To be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (and
for the purpose of the determination by the Company
of the number of votes they may cast), members must
be entered on the Company’s register of members at
12.00 noon on Tuesday 9 April 2002 (“the specified
time”). If the meeting is adjourned to a time not more
than 48 hours after the time applicable to the original
meeting, the specified time will also apply for the
purpose of determining the entitlement of members 
to attend and vote (and for determining the numbers 
of votes they may cast) at the adjourned meeting. If,
however, the meeting is adjourned for a longer period
then, to be so entitled, members must be entered on
the Company’s register of members at the time which
is 48 hours before this time fixed for the adjourned
meeting or, if the Company gives notice of the
adjourned meeting, at any time specified in that notice. 

4. No service contracts exist between the Company and
any of the directors, who hold office in accordance with
letters of appointment and the Articles of Association.

5. Only holders of ordinary shares are entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting.
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